

#### MINUTES BOARD OF SELECTMEN MONOMOY REGIONAL HIGH SCHOOL LIBRARY 75 OAK STREET, HARWICH MONDAY, NOVEMBER 30, 2017 5:30 P.M.

SELECTMEN PRESENT: Ballantine, Brown, Howell, Kavanagh, MacAskill

**OTHERS PRESENT:** Town Administrator Christopher Clark, Supt. Scott Carpenter, Nancy Scott – MRSC Chair, Finance Director Carol Coppola, and others.

#### WORKSHOP – REGIONAL AGREEMENT

There was discussion with the Monomoy Regional School Committee on proposed changes to the Regional Agreement document (attached) with focus on Section V – Location and Ownership of Schools and Section IX – Method of Assessing Costs – Capital Costs and Debt Service. There was no resolution or votes taken.

#### ADJOURNMENT

The meeting adjourned at 7:00 p.m.

Respectfully submitted,

Christopher Clark Town Administrator LEGEND: Not Applicable now that we are fully regionalized Things to potentially be discussed [comment made in brackets] – comments in document

Amendments must be initiated in accordance with Section XVII.A.

### AGREEMENT BETWEEN THE TOWNS OF CHATHAM AND HARWICH WITH RESPECT TO THE FORMATION OF A REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

Whereas the Towns of Chatham and Harwich, towns in the Commonwealth of Massachusetts, hereinafter referred to as "member towns", <u>have desire to created</u> a regional school district consistent with the terms of Chapter 71 of the Massachusetts General Laws, as amended, the member towns, in consideration of the mutual promises contained herein, agree as follows:

### Section I. MEMBERSHIP OF THE REGIONAL DISTRICT SCHOOL COMMITTEE

A. <u>Name and Composition</u>. During the transition period spoken of in Section XX herein, the District shall be named by the Interim Regional School Committee, utilizing a majority vote consistent with Section I.B below. <u>The name of the Regional School District shall be the Monomoy Regional School District.</u> The Regional District School Committee, hereinafter sometimes referred to as the "Committee", shall consist of eight (8) members, four (4) of whom reside in the Town of Chatham and four (4) of whom reside in the Town of Harwich.

B. <u>Weighted Voting</u>. Because of the disparity in the population of the two towns, each of the four (4) Committee members from Harwich will have one full vote on all matters and each of the four (4) Committee members from Chatham will have 50% of a vote on all matters, for a total of six (6) votes. For a motion which requires a majority vote to pass, a majority (i.e., greater than 50%) of the six (6) votes (which must be no fewer than 3.5 votes) must be cast in the affirmative and at least one Committee member from each of the two towns must vote in the affirmative. For the passage of a motion requiring a two-thirds vote (such as the passage of the annual budget), at least two thirds (i.e., no fewer than 4 votes) of the six (6) total votes must be cast in the affirmative. Should a shift in the respective populations of the member towns, based on the most recent decennial federal census figures, cause an impermissible disparity based on one-person, one-vote principles, the Committee will act to address the disparity via the amendment process.

C. <u>Election of Members</u>. Each member must reside in the town which she or he represents. Each member must be elected consistent with the process for the election of town officials in said town and will be elected to open seats during the annual election or special election in said town. The term of each elected member will begin on the first business day after his or her election and after being sworn in by the respective Town Clerk. A member who has not otherwise vacated his or her seat will continue to serve until his or her successor is elected and sworn. At every annual election, except at the initial election of the Regional School District Committeewhen the procedure specified below in subsection E (Initial Staggering of Terms) will be applied, there shall be elected one or two members of the Committee from the Town of Chatham and one or two members of the Committee from the Town of Harwich as is necessary to maintain the membership of the Committee in accordance with subsection A (Name and Composition) above.

D. Length of Terms. With the sole exception of the initial election of the Regional School District Committee by the procedure specified below in subsection E (Initial Staggering of Terms). tThe term of office of each elected member shall be three years, and a member will serve until his/her successor is elected and sworn in by the respective Town Clerk unless the member has otherwise vacated his or her seat.

E. <u>Initial Staggering of Terms</u>. For the purpose of staggering the terms of the initial Regional School District Committee only, the following procedure will apply:

In regard to each of the member towns, the two (2) candidates receiving the highest and secondhighest number of votes will be elected to three (3) year terms; the candidate receiving the thirdhighest number of votes will elected to a two (2) year term; and the candidate receiving the fourth highest number of votes will be elected to a one (1) year term.

F. <u>Vacancies</u>. Any vacancy occurring on the Regional District School Committee for any causeshall be filled by the local Board of Selectmen and the remaining Regional District School Committee members from the town where the vacancy occurs. The members of the Board of Selectmen shall meet in joint session with the remaining members of the Regional School District Committee from the town where the vacancy occurs. A majority vote of the members of this joint session shall be required to fill the vacant position. Such replacement shall serve until the next annual town election. At that next annual election, a person will be elected to serve the balance of the unexpired term, if any, which had become vacant.

G. <u>Organization</u>. At the first scheduled meeting of the Regional District School Committee after the annual election of all member towns, the Regional District School Committee shall organize in accordance with Massachusetts General Laws, Chapter 71, Section 16A, known as "Regional School Committee, Organization". In addition, the Regional District School Committee shall fix the times and place for its regular meetings for the new term, provide for the calling of special meetings upon written or electronic notice to all its members, and appoint appropriate subcommittees and other officers.

### Section II. POWERS OF THE COMMITTEE

The Committee shall possess all of the powers conferred by law upon regional school district committees via G.L. Chapter 71, section 16 and otherwise, including but not limited to the power to acquire property and/or to enter into leases for land and/or buildings. During the period July 1, 2012 to June 30, 2013, the Committee shall have the power to perform all of the end of the year reporting functions that normally would have been performed by the Chatham School Committee and the Harwich School Committee.

## Section III. QUORUMS, VOTES AND GOVERNANCE

A. A quorum to conduct business shall consist of five (5) members, with no fewer than two members being present from each of the member towns. A number less than the majority may vote to adjourn, but shall not take any other action.-

B. On all issues requiring a vote of the Regional District School Committee, a simple majority vote (i.e., no fewer than 3.5 of the six (6) votes as spoken to in Section I, subsection B) shall be required to pass all motions, except as specified elsewhere in this Agreement, or as required by statute.

C. The Regional District School Committee shall annually elect officers at the first regularly scheduled meeting held after the last of the elections in the member towns. Such officers shall exercise the powers expressed and implied in G.L. Chapter 71, section 16A.

D. A Chairperson and a Vice-Chairperson shall be elected from among the Regional District School Committee's membership. The Committee will have as standard practice that the position of Chairperson will rotate annually between the member towns. For example, in the first year that the District is in existence, the Chairperson will be elected without regard to where he/she resides. In year two, however, the Chairperson shall be elected from members who reside in the other town. This rotation sequence will then be maintained in future years. By a two-thirds (2/3) vote, and with at least one Committee member from each of the member towns voting in the affirmative, the Regional District School Committee may in any given year deviate from this standard practice. The Vice-Chairperson in any given year shall be drawn from the members who reside in the member town different from that of the Chairperson.

E. The Regional District School Committee shall elect/appoint a Secretary who may or may not be a member of the Regional District School Committee's membership.

F. The Regional District School Committee shall appoint a Treasurer who shall not be a member of the Regional District School Committee.

G. Any action voted by the Regional District School Committee which directly and specifically affects the elementary school(s) in only one town will require that three of the four members of the Regional District School Committee from the town in which the affected elementary school(s) is/are located vote in support of that action.

# Section IV. TYPE OF SCHOOL DISTRICT AND TRANSFER OF ASSETS

A. The Regional School District shall provide educational programs for public school students who reside in the member towns and who are attending grades pre-kindergarten through and including grade 12. The Regional School District Committee, as established consistent with

Section I (Membership of the Regional School District School Committee) above, is authorized in its discretion to establish and maintain other educational programs, including, but not limited to, vocational-technical educational programs consistent with G.L Chapter 74, and is authorized in its discretion to join or form educational collaboratives consistent with G.L. Chapter 40, s. 4E.

B. The Regional School District may, at the Committee's discretion, include pre-kindergarten, and shall include all grades from K-12.

C. The elementary schools shall serve students in grades K-4, and, at the Committee's discretion, pre-kindergarten.

D. The middle school(s)/high school(s) shall serve students in grades 5-12.

E. Where the term "preschool" is mentioned in this Agreement, it is done in order to permit the Regional District School Committee, at some future date, the discretion to provide "universal" preschool classes.

F. The Committee may in its discretion alter the elementary/secondary grade configurations spoken to above.

G. At the time of the creation of the District, any and all money held in so-called "revolving funds," in gift accounts, in grant accounts, or in student activity accounts/funds that are held by the member towns for the benefit of their respective school departments will be conveyed to the District to be utilized for educational and/or extracurricular purposes consistent with the purposes for which the revolving funds or accounts were created. Additionally, school-related equipment, material, and supplies that are owned by the school departments of the member towns at the time of the creation of the District will be conveyed to the District.

# Section V. LOCATION AND OWNERSHIP OF SCHOOLS

A. All Regional District schools shall be located within the geographical limits of the District. The Regional District school buildings shall be located on sites owned by, or leased to, the District.

B. It is the intent of the member towns to seek to build a new high school and to renovate amiddle school with all due alacrity.

C. There shall be no less than one elementary school in each member town. <u>The Regional</u> <u>District School Committee</u>, as it determines to be in the best interest of the District's students, <u>may assign students to elementary schools based on factors including</u>, but not limited to, town of <u>residence</u>, geographic proximity to a school (i.e., districting), grade configuration, curricular <u>structure</u>, student population and the temporary or permanent unavailability of one or more <u>buildings</u>, in whole or in part, for its intended purpose due to circumstances such as natural <u>disaster</u>, failure of systems or other similar circumstances. <u>Students in the elementary grades</u> <u>shall attend schools in their towns of residence</u>, except in special cases as defined by the <u>Regional District School Committee</u>. D. Each member town shall retain ownership of its elementary school buildings and grounds that are in existence at the time of the formation of the District and shall lease the same to the District for the sum of one dollar per year. Each lease shall be for a term of up to twenty (20) years, with said term to be established by the <u>Regional</u> District School Committee. The term shall commence on the date when the Regional District School Committee completes the transition period spoken to in Section XX and comes into full existence. The leases shall contain provisions for an extension of up to 20 years at the option of the Regional District School Committee. The leases shall contain provisions authorizing the District to repair, improve, alter, remodel and maintain the buildings or any part thereof, at the District's expense. Said leases shall not prevent the use of the buildings or premises by the respective owner towns, upon approval of the Regional School District Committee; such approval shall not be unreasonably withheld. Each lease involving a member town may include such other terms as may be agreed upon by the Selectmen of that member town and by the Regional District School Committee, who shall execute the lease for the member towns and the District, respectively

E. The Town of Chatham shall lease to the Regional District School Committee the land and buildings (at the option of the Committee) presently known as the Elementary School, as well as the land and/or the buildings (at the option of the Committee) comprising the combined Middle School/High School. The terms expressed in paragraph V, D shall apply equally to this paragraph.

F. The Town of Harwich, shall lease to the Regional District School Committee the land and/or buildings (at the option of the Committee) -presently known as the Elementary School., as well as the land and/or the buildings (at the option of the Committee) presently known as the Middle School, and the land and/or the buildings (at the option of the Committee) presently known as the High School. The terms expressed in paragraph V<sub>27</sub>D shall apply equally to this paragraph.

**G.** The leases of all of the above referenced school buildings should be signed by the date the District Committee completes the transition period spoken to in Section XX and comes into full existence.

H. At whatever point in time the land and/or buildings that are leased by a member town to the Regional District School Committee ceases to be needed by the District, the District School Committee shall vote to declare said land and/or buildings as surplus, and the custody and control of said land and/or buildings shall revert to the owner town.

I. Payments from future leases of Regional property shall be paid to the Regional School District.

### Section VI. TRANSPORTATION

The Regional District School Committee shall set District transportation policy. School transportation shall be provided by the Regional School District, and the cost thereof shall be apportioned among the member towns as defined in Section IX.

#### Section VII. BUDGET

A. The Committee shall prepare an annual operating and maintenance budget using accounts itemized in conformance with the chart of accounts utilized and required by the Massachusetts Department of Elementary and Secondary Education or its successor.

B. The Regional School District's budgetary process, and the timing of and method of appropriation of funds in regard thereto, shall be governed by the provisions of G. L. c. 71 §16(m) and c. 71 §16B and other applicable provisions of G. L. c. 71 and any special laws or regulations relating thereto.

C. The Regional District School Committee shall prepare a budget on a fiscal year basis for the District in the following manner:

- The Regional District budget process shall be initiated annually on or about October 1 and shall provide opportunity for the Selectman and Finance Committee of each member town to have input into its preparation. On or about January 15<sup>th</sup>, the Regional District School Committee shall complete its proposed budget for the ensuing year. Said proposed budget shall be approved by majority vote, with at least one Committee member from each member town voting in the affirmative. <u>The District shall submit its proposed budget to the Board of Selectmen and Finance Committee of each member town and provide a copy to each member town's public library and town clerk's office for posting. <u>Said proposed budget shall be posted in</u> the Town Hall of each member town, shall be provided to each member town's public library, and shall be submitted to the Selectmen and Finance Committee members of each member town.
  </u>
- 2. Said proposed budget shall contain a notice stating when and where a public hearing will be held. The public hearing shall be held in any District school building. The notice of the public hearing shall be posted in all member towns and published consistent with G.L. chapter 71, section 38N in a newspaper having general circulation in the region.— Upon request of the Finance Committee and/or the Board of Selectmen of any member town, the Regional District School Committee shall arrange to meet with such Finance Committee and/or Board of Selectmen for the purpose of discussing the proposed budget. Said proposed budget shall be in reasonable detail, itemized at least as follows: central administration, expenses of instruction, transportation, operation of school plant, maintenance of school plant, capital outlay, and debt and interest charges unless the Finance Committees and Board of Selectmen from each member town and the Regional School District Committee subsequently agree to some other methodology. All non-recurring expenditures shall be itemized. Enrollment, staffing, total expenditures and assessments for the past five (5) years shall be included. The Finance Committee or the Board of Selectmen of a member town may request further information.
- 3. Consistent with G.L. chapter 71, section 16B the Regional District School Committee shall adopt by a two-thirds (2/3) vote of all its members a budget with such changes as may have resulted from conferences and/or the public hearing. Within thirty (30)

days from the date on which the budget is adopted, the Treasurer of the District shall certify to the Treasurer of each member town that town's assessed share of such budget

- 4. The budget and assessments shall be so constructed as to show debt service, transportation, operating, and capital costs. It shall also list all sources of revenue used to reduce operating costs as described in Section IX.
- 5. The process and the requirements for the approval or disapproval of the budget by the member towns will be consistent with the terms and conditions of eChapter 71, section 16B, as well as 603 CMR section 41, et seq, as those terms and conditions may be amended. In the event of a conflict between any provision of law or regulations and this Agreement, the law and/or regulations shall prevail.

## Section VIII. BUDGETARY DEFINITIONS

The budget for the operation of the District's Schools, including payments of principal and interest on bonds and other evidence of indebtedness issued by the District, shall be apportioned to the member towns via the method set out in Section IX and subject to the following definitions:

### A. Budget

As defined by this document, the budget is the amount of money voted by the Regional District School Committee to finance the District schools and which will be assessed to the member towns.

B. The budget shall be comprised of various costs, each as herein defined as follows:

- "Operating Costs" include all costs not included in capital costs, transportation costs, or debt service, as defined below, but operating costs include interest and principal on revenue anticipation notes. Operating costs include the net costs of evening, graduate and extension courses or any other types of courses, including vocational education programs, which are offered by the District to persons other than pupils attending a regular district school program in any of the grades K-12, inclusive
- "Capital costs" will include all capital outlay appearing in the 7000 DESE function codes.
- 3. "Transportation costs" include all costs associated with transporting the District's students to and from school.
- 4. "Debt service" includes all costs that are used for payment of principal and interest on bonds or other obligations issued by the District except revenue anticipation notes.

## Section IX. METHOD OF ASSESSING COSTS OF THE REGIONAL SCHOOL DISTRICT

A. <u>Operating Costs</u>. Operating costs needed to support the district's budget will be reduced by all general fund revenues and state aid. Member town assessments will then be prepared as follows:

- 1. Each member town will contribute to the District no less than its minimum required local contribution as determined by the Commissioner pursuant to G.L. Cehapter 70.
- 2. Any excess costs needed to support the dDistrict's budget will be assessed to the member towns on the basis of the town's foundation enrollment.
- 3. Excess costs will be assessed to each member town on the basis of the combined three-year rolling average of foundation enrollment for each member town. That is, the October 1 foundation enrollment figures as published by the DESE for each member town for the most recent past three years will be averaged, as will the total of the foundation enrollments of all of the member towns for the most recent past three years. Each member town will be assessed the same percentage of the excess costs as that member's foundation enrollment for the past three years relates to the foundation enrollment for the past three years.

B. Capital Costs. Except as expressed in subsection E below (which pertains to the assessmentof capital costs and debt service on facilities that are in existence at the time of creation of the District until such time that there is one regional high school and one regional middle school). Capital costs shall include all expenses in the nature of capital outlay including, but not limited to, such as the cost of acquiring land, the cost of constructing, reconstructing, or adding to a school building or buildings, the cost of remodeling or making extraordinary repairs to a school building or buildings, the cost of constructing sewerage systems and sewerage treatment and disposal facilities or the cost of the purchase or use of such systems with a municipality, and any other item of capital outlay for which a regional school district may be authorized to borrow, or which could be categorized as a capital expense in conformance with applicable law and regulation, including, without limitation, the cost of original equipment and furnishings for such school buildings or additions, plans, architects' and consultants' fees, grading and other costs incidental to placing school buildings and additions, sewerage systems and sewerage treatment and disposal facilities, and any premises related to the foregoing in operating condition. Capital costs shall also include payment of principal of and interest on bonds, notes and other obligations issued by the District to finance capital costs.

<u>Ceapital costs that are attributable to facilities that are under the custody and control of the</u> <u>District, whether they are owned by or leased to the District</u>, shall be assessed to the member towns on the basis of the three year rolling average of each town's foundation enrollment as described in Section IX, A, <u>34</u> above.

C. <u>Transportation Costs</u>. Transportation costs will be assessed to the member towns based upon the number of students residing in each town who attend the District's schools based on the

average of the most recent three years' October 1 enrollment figures as reported. currently on October 1. to DESE.

D. <u>Debt Service</u>. Except as expressed in subsection E below (which pertains to the assessment of capital costs and debt service on facilities that are in existence at the time of creation of the District until such time there is one regional high school and one regional middle school). Notwithstanding the terms of subsections B and D. debt service costs which were incurred prior to July 1, 2017, will be assessed to the member towns as follows:

- 1. Debt service costs attributable to the high school and the middle school will be assessed to the member towns using the three year rolling average of each town's foundation enrollment as described in Section IX,A,<u>34</u> above.
- Debt service costs attributable to the District's elementary schools will be assessed to the member town that owns the building s based upon the mechanism described inparagraph E below which utilizes the most recent three years' October 1 enrollmentfigures.

E. Notwithstanding the terms and conditions of subsections B and D above, until such time asthere is one regional high school and one regional middle school, expenditures on capital items and debt service which are attributed to facilities that are in existence at the time of the creationof the District and which are under the care and custody of the District, regardless of whether they are owned by the District or leased to the District, will be assessed to the member townsusing the following approach. The number of students who reside in each of the member townswho attend the facility in question based upon the average of the most recent three years' October 1 enrollment figures as reported to DESE will be identified. Each member town willthen be assessed a percentage of the capital and debt service expenditures attributable to that facility. This percentage will be the same percentage as the number of students from that townwho are enrolled in the facility in question, using the three year average referenced in thisparagraph, bears to the two towns' combined enrollment in that facility. If the construction of a new high school is undertaken after the creation of the District, the capital costs and debt serviceattributed to said construction, and the planning for same, will be assessed under subsections Band D above, despite the fact that the completion of the new high school will occur prior to therebeing one regional middle school. If a renovation of and/or addition to the building which isknown at the time of creation of the District as the Chatham Middle School/High School isundertaken for purposes of converting said building to a District middle school, the capital costsand debt service attributed to said renovation/addition, and the planning for same, will beassessed under subsections B and D above. However, the capital costs and debt service attributable to this building continuing to be used as a middle school for the Chatham studentswhile the Harwich Middle School is still in operation will be assessed consistent with thisparagraph E.

F. The payment of the assessed share of costs by each member town, as computed by the Regional District School Committee according to the methods specified in Section IX, shall be made by each member town's Treasurer by check or electronic transfer payable to the Regional School District in five equal installments by the first business day of the month as set forth below:

Chatham: August, October, December, February, April, May, June

X

### Section X. STABILIZATION FUND.

The Regional District School Committee may, consistent with the terms and conditions of G.L. chapter 71, section 16G<sup>1</sup>/<sub>2</sub>, establish and maintain a stabilization fund.

### Section XI. ADMISSION OF ADDITIONAL TOWNS

By an amendment to this agreement adopted by each member town in accordance with Section XVII (Amendments) and in compliance with the provisions therein contained, any other town or towns may be admitted to the Regional School District upon adoption of such amendment, -and also upon compliance with -any statutory or regulatory requirement as may be applicable.

### Section XII. WITHDRAWAL OF MEMBER TOWNS

In the event that a member town decides to seek to withdraw from the District, the following procedures and requirements will apply:

A. <u>Vote Expressing Desire to Withdraw</u>. Any member town seeking to withdraw from the District shall, by vote at an annual or special town meeting, request the Committee to formulate an amendment to this Agreement setting forth the terms under which the town may withdraw from the District. No withdrawal will take effect on other than July 1 of a given year, and the vote spoken of in the preceding sentence, as well as the notification to the District consistent with paragraph B below, as well as the submittal of a long range education plan consistent with paragraph C below, must all occur no less than two (2) years prior to the desired date of withdrawal.

B. <u>Notice</u>. The clerk of the town seeking to withdraw shall, within seven (7) days of the vote, notify the Committee chairperson as well as the District's superintendent in writing that the town has voted to request the Committee to formulate an amendment to the Agreement setting forth the terms for withdrawal. The clerk will provide a certified copy of the vote with the notification.

C. Long Range Education Plan. No less than two (2) full years prior to the desired date of withdrawal, the town seeking to withdraw, in addition to the other requirements spoken to in paragraph A above, will submit to the Commissioner of Elementary and Secondary Education (hereinafter "the Commissioner") and to the District a "Long Range Education Plan" consistent with 603 CMR 41.02(2). The Long Range Plan will address, in addition to any other factor required by the Commissioner, the following: the expected educational benefits of reorganization; the current and projected enrollments; an inventory of all educational facilities under the jurisdiction of the District; the proposed administrative structure; the fiscal ramifications of withdrawal upon the withdrawing town as well as the other member towns in the District; the geographical and physical characteristics of the area; and the effect that withdrawal will have on student transportation.

D. <u>Requirements</u>. In addition to other terms and requirements which the Committee may include in the amendment, the town seeking to withdraw will be responsible for the following: (1) payment of all operating costs for which it is liable as a member of the District; (2) continuing payments beyond the time of withdrawal to the District for the town's share of the indebtedness of the District which is outstanding at the time of such withdrawal, and for interest thereon, to the same extent and in the same manner as though the town had not withdrawn from the District; and (3) for the costs, including legal fees, that accrue to the District as a result of the withdrawal process.

E. <u>Approval of Withdrawal</u>. A request to withdraw shall become effective only if the amendment to the Agreement is approved by vote of the Committee, is approved by the Commissioner, and is approved by majority vote at an annual or special town meeting in the town seeking to withdraw and in each of the other member towns, and the withdrawal can become effective no less than one full year after the completion of these requirements.

F. In no event shall such withdrawal take place prior to ten (10) years from the effective date of this agreement as defined in Section XVIII (Effective Date and Jurisdiction).

## Section XIII. ANNUAL REPORT

The Regional District School Committee shall submit to each member town an annual report containing a detailed financial statement and a statement showing methods by which the annual charges assessed against each town were computed, together with such additional information relating to the operation and maintenance of the schools as may be deemed necessary by the Regional District Committee or by the Selectman and/or the Finance Committee of any member town.

# Section XIV. TEACHERS

In accordance with G.L. chapter 71, section 42B, teachers serving in the schools of a membertown at the time that the District comes into existence and who have professional teacher statusshall be employed by the District with that same status. Teachers who are serving in the schoolsof a member town at the time that the District comes into existence and who do not haveprofessional teacher status shall be employed by the District if there is an available positionwhich such person is certified to fill.

# Section XV. INCURRING OF DEBT

The District School Committee may vote to incur debt consistent with the terms and conditions of G.L. chapter 71, section 16. At the time of taking action to incur debt, and except for the incurring of temporary debt in anticipation of revenue, the District School Committee by majority vote will choose either the process that appears in subsection (d) of chapter 71, section 16, or the process that appears in subsection (n) of chapter 71, section 16.

# Section XVI. REVIEW OF AGREEMENT

At least every five (5) years, the Committee will undertake a review of the terms of this Agreement. The first review of this Agreement shall occur no later than in the fifth fiscal year of the District's existence. Proposals for amendments to this Agreement will follow the procedure contained in Section XVII (Amendments).

### Section XVII. AMENDMENTS

A. Amendments to this Agreement may be initiated by a three-quarters (3/4) vote (i.e., no fewer than 4.5 votes) of the District Committee or by a petition signed by ten per cent (10%) of a member town(s) registered voters. Said signatures need to be certified by the Clerk of the respective town who must also certify the fact that the number of signatures represents at least 10% of the registered voters of the town. Such amendments to the agreement must receive a majority vote of approval by each member town at an annual town meeting, and all amendments are subject to the approval of the Commissioner.

B. No such amendment shall be made which shall substantially impair the rights of the holders of any of the District's bonds or notes of the District then outstanding, or the rights of the District to procure the means for payments thereof.

### Section XVIII. EFFECTIVE DATE AND JURISDICTION

The full jurisdiction of the Regional District School Committee will commence on July 1, 2012 at the conclusion of the transition period established in Section XX.

### Section XIX. SEVERABILITY OF SECTIONS

Consistent with G.L. Chapter 71, section 16I, if any provision of this Regional School District Agreement shall be held invalid in any circumstance, such invalidity shall not affect any other provisions or circumstances.

### Section XX. TRANSITION PERIOD

As part of the approval of this Agreement, and of the Regional School District created by this Agreement, the member towns as well as the Commissioner will be taken to have approved a transition period, consistent with 603 CMR 41.03(5) which will extend from the date of voter approval of the District until the end of the fiscal year following the fiscal year in which the vote to approve the District was taken. During this transition period, the existing local school committees will continue in existence and will continue to operate the schools of the member towns subject to the restrictions spoken to in this Section XX (hereinafter "this section"). During this transition period, and prior to the seating of the Regional School Committee on July 1, 2011, an Interim Regional School Committee (hereinafter the "IRSC") will be formed consistent with this section which will exercise the powers expressed in this section. The IRSC will exist until midnight on June 30, 2011, at which time the Regional School Committee will be seated and will serve for the balance of the transition period and thereafter.

A. Composition of the Interim Regional School Committee. As soon as possible after the approval of this Agreement by the voters, the Interim Regional School Committee will beformed which will consist of eight (8) members, four (4) from each town. Two (2) of suchmembers will be drawn from the members of, and elected by vote of, each of the two (2) localschool committees. Each of these local school committees will also appoint two (2) additionalcitizens who reside in their respective towns and who are not members of the local schoolcommittee to serve on the IRSC. The votes of these members will be weighted, and the requirements for an affirmative vote will be the same, as is expressed in Section I, subsection Bof this Agreement. During that part of the transition period when the IRSC is in existence, should any member on the IRSC resign from membership on the IRSC or become ineligible forcontinued membership on the IRSC (e.g., by leaving the membership of the local schoolcommittee or by moving from their respective town) the local school committee will vote areplacement. If the vacancy is caused by one of the members of a local school committee leavingthe IRSC, then the replacement shall be chosen from among the remaining members of that local school committee. If the vacancy is caused by one of the citizens leaving the IRSC, then the respective local school committee shall appoint another citizen who is not a member of the localcommittee as the replacement.

B. <u>Quorum</u>. A quorum shall exist when a five (5) of the eight (8) IRSC members are present, with no less than two (2) present from each of the member towns. At a meeting where there is noquorum, the members present may vote to adjourn but shall not take any other action.

C. <u>Election of Officers.</u> The IRSC will elect officers consistent with Section III (Quorums. Votes, and Governance) except that the IRSC officers so chosen will serve throughout that partof the transition period that the IRSC is in existence.

D. <u>Powers of the IRSC and the Regional School Committee During the Transition Period</u>. During the transition period, the IRSC (until June 30, 2011) and the Regional School Committee (from July 1, 2011 to June 30, 2012) shall possess all powers, subject to the availability of fundsnecessary for the exercise of such powers, necessary for the planning and implementation of the regional school district, including but not limited to the following:

- 1. The power to receive funds from the Commonwealth as well as appropriations, grants, and gifts from other sources. This is not intended to alter the fact that during the transition period other funds from the Commonwealth will continue to flow to the member towns and their individual school departments.
- The power to establish and adopt policies for the regional school district.
- The power to employ a superintendent, treasurer, chief financial officer, and director of Special education, as well as the power to authorize the superintendent to employother personnel as needed.
- 4. The power to contract for and/or purchase goods and services, as well as the power to enter into lease and other agreements with the member towns, collaboratives, vendors, and other agencies and parties, with all the powers being able to be exercises on behalf of the regional school district.

- 5. The power to adopt budgets for the regional school district, and to assess the membertowns for these budgets.
- 6. The power to negotiate and to enter into collective bargaining agreements, which will take effect no sooner than the inception of the Regional School District.
- 7. The power to appoint a regional School Building Committee.
- 8. The power to develop and adopt a strategic plan for the Regional School District.
- 9. The power to appoint subcommittees.

E. <u>Relationship between the IRSC and the Local School Committees and Between the Regional-School Committee and the Local School Committees During the Transition Period. During the transition period, the local school committees of the member towns may not make decisions that will financially obligate or legally encumber the regional School district without ratification by majority vote of the IRSC or, after June 30, 2011, by majority vote of the Regional School Committees shall comply with the following during the transition period:</u>

- No building projects will be undertaken and no building closures will occur unless ratified by majority vote of the IRSC or, after June 30, 2011, by majority vote of the Regional School Committee.
- 2. Program offerings will remain substantially the same.
- No school choice openings will be filled except with the approval by majority vote of the IRSC or, after June 30, 2011, by majority vote of the Regional School Committee.
- The school administration of the local school districts shall cooperate with the Regional Administration in terms of information sharing and in terms of the transfercontrol during the transition period.
- 5. During the period July 1, 2011 to June 30, 2012, the Regional School Committee will assume responsibility for the transportation of the regular education students (i.e., not the special education students or the vocational students) who reside in Chatham and Harwich and who are enrolled in the Chatham or Harwich Public Schools. During 2011-2012, the Chatham School Committee and the Harwich School Committee shall pay an assessment to the Regional School Committee of an amount equal to the cost of said transportation for their respective regular students. The Regional School Committee will have the option of designating the Chatham School Department, the Harwich School Department, or both, as its financial agents(s) for purposes of processing invoices and payments for said transportation.

F. <u>Termination of IRSC</u>. The IRSC will exist until midnight on June 30, 2011, at which time the Regional School Committee will assume jurisdiction of the Regional School District for the balance of the transition period and thereafter. The Regional-

School Committee will be deemed to be the legal successor to the IRSC for purposes of all contracts, collective bargaining agreements, other agreements, and leases that have been entered into by the IRSC.

Dated this day of		
Chatham Board of Selectmen	Harwich Board of Selectmen-	
Leonard M. Sussman, Chairman	Angelo S. LaMantia, Chairman	
	Interim Regional School Committee	
Jeffrey Dykens, Chatham	Erie Whiteley, Chatham	William Bystrom, Chatham
Craig Vokey, Chatham	Thomas Blute, Harwich	Sue Daggett, Harwich
Mark Russell, Harwich	Brian Widegren, Harwich	
Chatham School Committee	Harwich School Committee	
Jeffrey Dykens, Chair	Polly Hemstock, Chair-	=
Chatham Public Schools	Harwich Public Schools	
Dr. Mary Ann Lanzo Superintendent	Dr. Carolyn M. Cragin Superintendent	

Department of Elementary and Secondary Education

Mitchell D. Chester, Commissioner